1963

# Meredith Page v. Utah Home Fire Insurance Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE  
CASE

This is an action by which plaintiff seeks to recover the actual cash value of a fourplex building totally destroyed by fire on or about the 11th day of February, 1961 under two fire insurance policies issued by the defendant.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury and submitted on two special interrogatories. The lower court originally rendered judgment for the defendant. Thereupon the lower court granted plaintiff a new trial pursuant to plaintiff's motion for new trial. Upon defendant's motion to reconsider the court's order granting a new trial, the lower court in a memorandum decision granted a partial new trial pertaining to the second insurance contract and vacated the original order granting a new trial. From the judgment for the defendant, plaintiff appeals.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgment and a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Meredith Page, the plaintiff, has been engaged in the business of rental properties as well as an insurance agent for Utah Home Fire Insurance Company, defendant, for a period of approximately thirty years. He worked through Heber J. Grant and Company, the general agent for defendant corporation. (R 104-105). On or about the 31st day of December, 1958, plaintiff purchased a surplus air force officers' quarters located at the Salt Lake Air Base from LaVell Webster, a professional moving man. (R 108). Said build-

ing was a fourplex consisting of 22 rooms, excluding closets and bathrooms (R 116) and of about 4,670 square feet. (Exhibits 3 and 4). Thereupon plaintiff went to the office of the general agent, Heber J. Grant and Company, for the purpose of obtaining fire insurance on the building. (R 108). He talked to a certain Ove C. Inkley, Secretary-Treasurer of Heber J. Grant and Company, office manager and assistant manager of the general agent, (R 108, 281) and explained that he was going to move the building some 20 odd miles out to 14610 South State (across the street from the State Prison), fix it up as a rental unit of four apartments. He explained generally the condition of the building. (R 108-110). After a discussion as to the amount of insurance to place on the building, plaintiff applied for \$20,000.00 with the statement that after he did some more work on it he would take more insurance. (R 108-110).

Mr. Inkley had serious doubts as to whether insurance could be written and said he would have to refer it to the underwriter for approval. (R 292-294). Thereupon a policy for \$20,000.00 with extended coverage was issued to plaintiff. (Exhibit 1-P).

Sometime in the Spring of 1959 the building was moved and placed on a foundation at 14610 South State. The building was closed in by replacing all broken windows, new doors where needed, locks replaced and installed, cuts in the building caused when moved were covered and some damaged walls were repaired, addi-

tional width of eaves were being constructed, the building was painted and arrangements made with a plumber to connect the plumbing to the sewer and prospective tenants were interviewed. (R 117-120).

On June 27, 1960, pursuant to a telephone call from plaintiff to Heber J. Grant and Company, another policy in the sum of \$10,000.00 with extended coverage was issued to plaintiff. (Exhibit P-2) (R 110).

Prior to the issuance of the second policy, defendant paid a fire claim under the first policy to fire damage to an out building which burned. Defendant had sent an adjuster out to the property to adjust the claim. (R 110-112).

During the period in which the building was being prepared for rental, the plaintiff had permitted a certain George Welshman without compensation to store certain items in the building such as a small light power plant without fuel tank or carburetor; saws, hand tools and carpenter tools used in construction of the building; a pillow slip; Christmas tree stand; a bundle of aluminum; a couple of car generators; a washing machine; kitchen table; dining room table; and some iron scraps. (R 266-271). The said items were not in the area of the source of the fire. (R 266).

On or about the 11th day of February, 1961, said fourplex was totally destroyed by fire.

Suit was filed to recover under the two insurance policies after failure of satisfactory adjustment. De-



defendant answered generally by denial and set up an affirmative defense that company was not liable because of increased hazard because of materials stored in the building and non-occupancy. (R 1-11).

Discovery procedure was used and demand for jury trial was filed by plaintiff. (R 12-15). A pretrial was held on the 6th day of March, 1962 and pretrial order made and issues framed as to the amount payable under policies and whether or not the premises had been used in violation of policies. Jury trial was set for April 25, 1962. (R 16).

On the 23rd day of March, 1962, defendant filed a motion for leave to amend pretrial order by adding the additional defense that policies were issued by fraudulent representations of overvaluation of the building and use for which the building was to be used. (R 17-18).

On the 30th day of March, 1962, over plaintiff's objections the pretrial order was amended to apparently cover defendant's requested issue of over valuation of the property. (R 19).

Again at the opening of the trial the defendant again sought to enlarge the issues of the trial now to include misrepresentations as to the condition of the building at the time the insurance was written. This enlargement was again vigorously objected to by plaintiff. (R 93-96).

Each party had three agents testify as to actual

cash value of the buliding at the time of the fire as follows:

Ronald Sylvestor, for plaintiff	\$38,430.00	(R 188-193)
John W. New, for plaintiff	\$33,718.39	(R 202-222)
Sam F. Soter, for plaintiff	\$27,804.24	(R 222-230)
Alex Gray, for defendant	\$24,780.16	(R 274-283)
Raymond S. Fletcher, for defendant	\$ 7,500.00	(R 308-334)
Guy D. Alder, for defendant	\$ 7,500.00	(R 335-343)

## ARGUMENT

Point 1. THE ISSUE OF FRAUD SHOULD NOT HAVE BECOME AN ISSUE OR A MATTER OF DEFENSE.

Fraud or misrepresentation on the part of the plaintiff was not a proper issue to be tried or submitted to the jury for the following reasons:

1. The defense was not pleaded, nor included in any pretrial order and not timely raised.
2. The defendant waived any defense and was estopped from raising said defense.
3. The issue served to confuse the jury, prejudice

the jury and detracted the jury from concentrating on the only true issue of what was the actual cash value of building at the time of trial.

The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and modern court decisions have stressed the need for fairness and complete discovery in the preparation and trial of cases so as to eliminate surprise and offer counsel an opportunity to prepare his case to meet framed issues. The including of a defense of fraudulent misrepresentation as to the condition of the fourplex at the beginning of the trial violated the rule of fairness, was a surprise and provided no means of preparation concerning the issue.

Rule 8(c) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* provides "In pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively . . . fraud . . . and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense." The defendant's claim that plaintiff made fraudulent misrepresentations of material facts in the procuring of subject insurance policies has never been pleaded even after the conclusion of trial and at this stage of the proceedings. See also *Rees v. Archibald*, 6U(2d) 264, 311 P2d 788, where the Utah Supreme Court held that an affirmative defense must be pleaded and proved.

The defendant did not raise the issue even when he asked the court leave to amend the pretrial order. See defendant's motion (R 17) wherein he claimed a misrepresentation as to the purpose and use of buildings and the valuation of said building. The amended pre-

trial order is ambiguous but apparently follows the same theory. During the trial the defendant offered no evidence to rebut plaintiff's testimony and evidence that the intended use of the building was for rental purposes. As to the over valuation issue, defense counsel at beginning of the trial said, "I don't think the over valuation is particularly an issue in the case, Your Honor. The policy provides that the company will pay the actual cash value and that is the third issue in this case as I have set them out or it is one of the issues." (R 96). The defendant thereby abandoned the defense he asked to have inserted in the amended pretrial order and confirmed the position of plaintiff recited in the amended pretrial order.

Mr. Appleman in 20 A, *Appleman on Insurance Laws and Practice*, 11978, concerning Subject Matter of Insurance—Misrepresentations, says:

"The burden is upon the insurer, relying upon a defense of misrepresentation or breach of warranty, to plead and prove such defense. The same result follows where the insurer defends upon concealment of material matters or fraud in the procurement of the policy. It has thus been stated that the insurer must prove the representations made, their falsity, materiality, and reliance thereon by the insurer, plus in some cases, the fact that they were knowingly made by the insured with the intent to deceive."

In reference to the waiver of the defense of fraud and estoppel, this writer will briefly refer the court to the record concerning certain undisputed facts testified

to by defendant's own witnesses. See R 284 as to the fact that Heber J. Grant and Company is a general agent for defendant company. See the cross examination of Mr. Inkley, the Secretary-Treasurer of Heber J. Grant and Company (R 291-296) wherein he admits among other things, that plaintiff came into the office and advised him that he had purchased a surplus building at the Air Base and that he was going to move it, place it on a foundation and there were four large apartments and that he referred the matter to the underwriter. He said in part as follows: "There was still some question in my mind as to whether the underwriter ought not pass on it. It was out of the ordinary, a building being moved and set up again on new property and I thought he should know these things before he O.K.'d the order." (R 294). See also the cross examination of Norman Everett, the fire insurance underwriter of Heber J. Grant and Company, as follows: (R 306).

Q. Were you advised that this building was going to be moved from the air base out to about 20 miles out to Draper?

A. No.

Q. If you had been advised of that what would you have done?

A. We would not have accepted the risk.

Q. Let me put it this way, if you were advised that it was to be moved only, what information do you people have to have before you leave the office and go out and investigate something that has to be insured, don't you investigate things that are questionable?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right now, if you were advised that this building was vacant and sitting out on the air base for an apartment building and was to be moved out some 20 miles out to the Point of the Mountain and placed on a foundation, your testimony is that you would have rejected it at that instant?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In other words, if you were given that much information, you then were put on notice that this may be a bad risk?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did Mr. Inkley make any recommendations to you or do you recall?

A. No, I don't recall for sure on that about any recommendations.

Q. As a matter of fact, if you were given any information at all that a building was to be moved from one location to another, what would your reaction be?

A. Not to accept it.

Q. Just with that information alone?

A. Yes, sir.

With the above facts in mind, this writer now quotes at length from 16 *Appleman*, 9103—General Agent or officer:

“Following the definition of general agent previously adopted as one having power to issue a policy for the insurer or to bind the insurer by

his contract, it is the accepted rule that knowledge acquired by such agents within the scope of their duties is the knowledge of the insurer. It has been otherwise stated that the knowledge of an officer or agent of the insurer, which is acquired within the scope of his duties of employment or agency as to facts material to the insurance, is imputed to the insurer, in the absence of collusion between the insured and the agent. And this is true regardless of whether such information is communicated to the insurer."

"An insurance company is charged with the knowledge of a general agent issuing a policy relative to the insurable condition of the properly insured. . . . "

"Knowledge on the part of a general agent of facts rendering the policy voidable, or of a breach authorizing a forfeiture, is imputed to the company, for the purpose of effecting a waiver or an estoppel to rely upon such forfeiture."

"Notice acquired by a departmental manager of the insurer's general agents regarding facts within the scope of his authority is imputable to the corporate insurer, though the manager was unauthorized to alter or waive any policy processed."

Many cases are cited in support. This writer also quotes Mr. Couch at 7 *Couch on Insurance* 2d 35:252, Constructive Knowledge:

"While knowledge of the true facts is essential to the existence of a waiver or a breach of a policy provision or the falsity of a statement of the insured, it is not necessary that the insurer had

actual knowledge. It is sufficient if the circumstances are such that the insurer should have known the actual facts because it had knowledge of such matters as would have put a reasonable man on inquiry, that is, that it had had constructive knowledge. Thus knowledge which is sufficient to lead a prudent person to inquire about the matter, when it could have been ascertained conveniently constitutes notice of whatever the inquiry would have disclosed and will be regarded as knowledge of the facts, and the insurer may not deliberately disregard the circumstances which put it on notice."

And also 7 *Couch on Insurance* 2d 35:271:

"Where the insurer had knowledge of such facts as should have put it on inquiry and such inquiry would have disclosed the true facts, it is estopped to assert the falsity of the insured, statements when the latter were made in good faith."

In substance, even if defendant had properly raised the defense of fraud or misrepresentation, said defendant as a matter of law has waived its claimed defense or is estopped from making it an issue. The only conflict in testimony is between the two officers for the general agent as to what transpired between them. Over this the plaintiff had no control. As a matter of fact, the only testimony opposing Mr. Page's testimony as to the condition of the building as recited in R 108-110 is the testimony of Mr. Inkley and Mr. Inkley's testimony is founded on bad memory.

All of this testimony based on ~~reported~~<sup>repeated</sup> and repeat-



ed hypothetical questions served only to confuse the jury and detract it from the main issue involved as to the actual cash value of the fourplex at the time of the fire.

## **Point 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN TO THE JURY.**

The plaintiff respectfully asserts that the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury in the following specific matters:

1. Instruction 11a, defining actual cash value, is erroneous and the trial court should have given plaintiff's requested instruction No. 2, which is the correct definition.
2. The trial court should have instructed the jury as to a general verdict as set forth in plaintiff's requested instruction No. 1 rather than by two interrogatories.
3. The trial court erred in the giving of the second interrogatory.

The definition of "actual cash value", as it applies to fire insurance policies, has not ever been decided by the Utah Supreme Court to the knowledge of this writer and is therefore one to be decided. There is by no means any uniformity of definition in other jurisdictions. Some courts have adopted the definition as set forth in plaintiff's requested instruction No. 2 as follows:

“Actual cash value of the property at the time of the loss means the replacement cost of the building less items specifically excluded from coverage such as underground pipes and foundation under the ground, less depreciation for wear and tear.”

Some courts have defined actual cash value as being synonymous with “market value” and have adopted a broad evidence rule permitting all evidence to be admitted in arriving at this definition.

The trial court did neither in its definition of actual value in instruction No. 11a. The instruction did not define what actual cash value meant, but substituted the broad evidence rule as a definition. The instruction as given gave no guidance to the jury as demonstrated by the jury returning to the court asking what was meant by actual cash value. (R 354).

61 ALR 2d 725 et seq. sets forth an excellent discussion of the cases involving actual cash value of buildings. See also 6 *Appleman* 3823.

Plaintiff urges the adoption of the rule set forth by our sister State of Idaho as to the definition of actual cash value as it pertains to buildings. See *Boise Ass'n. of Credit Men v. U.S. Fire Insurance Company*, 256 Pac. 523. On page 527 the court says:

“The actual cash value of the property at the time of loss is not ordinarily the same as the cost of replacing the property with new property of like kind or quality. As to a building, it is the cost of a new building of the same material and dimensions of the one destroyed, less the amount

the destroyed building had deteriorated by use —4 Cooley, Briefs on Insurance, p. 3082. On the other hand, the market value of a building cannot be used as a test in determining the amount of recovery for the destruction of a building for various reasons. If there was no market value for the property, so it could not be sold, it would not have any value, and consequently there would be no loss. . . . Again the market value of some buildings (as for instance tenement houses) may be much greater than their actual cash value. . . . 4 Cooley, Briefs on Insurance, p. 3981; Wall v. Platt, 169 Mass. 398; 48 N.E. 270; 3 Sutherland on Damages (4th Ed.) pp. 3042, 3043.”

What is used as definition for actual cash value can have a wide range of effects as to the compensation paid to the insured. An example of this is the variance of appraisals in this case. John New, one of plaintiff's experts, used replacement cost new, less depreciation for wear and tear, less items such as foundation and the like and arrived at an actual cash value at time of fire of \$33,718.39. For depreciation he used the same depreciation tables as used in the insurance industry, to wit: Marshall Valuation Service. (Exhibit 14-P). On the other hand two of defendant's witnesses, Raymond S. Fletcher and Guy D. Alder, used market value basis and arrived at \$7,500.00. The latter two appraisers' figures amounted to about \$1.60 a square foot, which is hardly enough to compensate for a chicken coop. Under cross examination both Fletcher and Alder admitted they would place a different figure if the building had been located at Midvale or say Salt Lake

City. They also admitted that if there were two houses side by side, of equal cost and square footage, they would arrive at different figures if the room arrangements were different. (R 330-331, 342).

The definition of actual cash value should be one that can be understood and one that justly and adequately compensates the insured for his loss.

The trial court should have submitted the entire case to the jury rather than by two special interrogatives so that plaintiff would have full benefit of demanded trial by jury. The case was not complicated requiring interrogatories and would have not required the court to make certain findings itself, which is contrary to the basic principles of a jury trial.

The second special interrogatory submitted to the jury concerning failure to make a full and honest disclosure to defendant insurance company is vague, ambiguous and made without definition and not worded to encompass facts argued by defendant. The interrogatory submitted was as follows:

“Did plaintiff Meredith Page knowingly fail to make a full and honest disclosure to defendant Fire Insurance Company of the material facts regarding the nature and intended use of the burned fourplex?”

To which policy is the court directing the jury's attention, the first policy issued when the fourplex was at the air base, or the second policy concerning disclosures made at the time the building was situated at the location where it was at the time of the fire?

The status of the building at these different times when the two policies were issued were entirely different. The special interrogatory appears to direct the jury's attention to whether or not a full and honest disclosure was made to defendant fire insurance company of the material facts regarding the underlying nature and intended use of the burned fourplex. The record clearly discloses there was no conflict of evidence that the nature and intended use of the fourplex was for rental purposes. The special interrogatory did not ask of the jury any questions relative to a finding of fraud concerning scienter, reliance by defendant, and whether or not defendant was damaged by failure of plaintiff to make a full disclosure.

### Point 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS JUDGMENT.

The trial court clearly invaded the province of the jury by making its own findings of fact, contrary to the evidence, by forming an issue that was not properly before the court, to wit: fraud, and by rendering a judgment adverse to plaintiff.

The trial court properly granted a new trial in the first instance and then erred by granting a partial new trial.

## CONCLUSION

This has been a case where the defendant has had a field day shot gunning the plaintiff with one defense

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