1963

Meredith Page v. Utah Home Fire Insurance Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE ISSUE OF FRAUD, OR THE ISSUE OF WHETHER OR NOT MR. PAGE VIOLATED HIS FIDUCIARY DUTY WAS A PROPER ISSUE BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT AND JURY AND A PROPER MATTER OF DEFENSE.

It is discretionary with the pre-trial judge as to whether additional issues not pleaded in the original pleadings may be added at time of the pre-trial hearing. In this case the plaintiff not only was put on notice in plenty of time, 26 days, before the actual

trial, but as stated in the amended pre-trial order:

“Counsel have agreed that the following issue may be presented at the trial***”

“It is stipulated that the plaintiff Page was the agent of the insurance company at the time of the placement of this policy and worked through the general agent Heber J. Grant and Company. Defendant contends that in so dealing he owed a fiduciary relationship (duty) to the insurance company and thus being interested in the result of the transaction he violated his duty towards them.”

The record is clear that the pre-trial judge listed as one of the issues the question whether Mr. Page violated his fiduciary duty in the placement of the policies. This was, therefore, a proper issue before the trial court.

Defendant claimed in its motion that Page purchased the building and placed it on an area of land which he knew was going to be taken by the State Road Commission for a highway and that he purchased the policies of insurance in large amounts to try to substantiate the values which he proposed to collect from the State. Mr. Page's deposition contained admissions pertaining to this but the pre-trial judge ruled that this proposed fraud, if any, would not constitute a defense to the defendant on the policies issued to Page.

The fiduciary duty of Mr. Page as an agent was discussed and Judge Van Cott, the pre-trial

judge, said he would make the question of the violation of the fiduciary duty an issue in the case, which was done.

It has been common practice in pre-trial procedure in Salt Lake County to set up additional issues not set up in the pleadings when the facts warranted it. Rule 16 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure authorizes the court to do so and a proper order was made in this case.

Plaintiff was not surprised or should not have been concerning this defense in this case because although he objected to the original pre-trial order being amended he did consent to the issue being presented at trial (R. 19). The trial judge readily recognized that this issue had been raised by the amended pre-trial order (R. 94-95). Counsel for defendant prepared an instruction on the issue which was presented to the court prior to the commencement of the trial (R. 30) and plaintiff's counsel also recognized that it was an issue because he stated to Judge Faux:

"The plaintiff objects again as it did in the amended pre-trial order of the inclusion of the question as to whether or not the fiduciary capacity of the insured and the agent creates a defense on the policy itself." (R. 94).

Defendant never did waive this defense. The defendant contended that the agent made his own appraisal or in other words inspection or surveillance of the building and the policies were issued on his representation as agent. Valuation with re-

spect to the amount to be paid under the policy is governed by the terms of the policy and is based on actual cash value.

Section 13 of the Restatement of the Law of Agency states as follows with respect to an agent's fiduciary duty:

“An agent is a fiduciary with respect to matters within the scope of his agency.”

Comment A.

“The agreement to act on behalf of the principal causes the agent to be a fiduciary; that is, a person having a duty created by his undertaking, to act primarily for the benefit of another in matters connected with his undertaking. Among the agent's fiduciary duties to the principal is the duty to * * * * deal fairly with the principal in all transactions with him.”

Secton 390 of the Restatement of the Law of Agency states as follows in connection with the agent acting as an adverse party with the principal's consent:

“An agent in dealing with the principal on his own account in regard to subject matter as to which he is employed is subject to a duty to deal fairly with the principal and to communicate to him all material facts in connection with the transaction of which he has notice, unless the principal has manifested that he knows such facts or that he does not care to know them.”

Comment A. Facts to be disclosed.

“One employed as agent violates no duty

to the principal by acting for his own benefit if he makes a full disclosure of the facts to an acquiescent principal and takes no unfair advantage of him. Before dealing with the principal on his own account, however, an agent has a duty, not only to make no misstatements of fact but also to disclose to the principal all material facts fully and completely. A fact is material within the meaning of the rule stated in this section if it is one the agent should realize would be likely to affect the judgment of the principal in giving his consent to the agent to enter into the particular transaction on the specified terms. Hence, the disclosure must include not only the fact that the agent is acting on his own account, but also all other facts which he should realize have or are likely to have a bearing upon the desirability of the transaction from the viewpoint of the principal."

Comment B. Facts which agent should know.

"The duty is positive so that although the agent is inadvertent and non negligent in failing to reveal material facts in his possession the transaction is voidable by a principal ignorant of them."

Section 387 of the Restatement of Agency covering duties of loyalty states as follows:

"An agent is subject to a duty to his principal to act solely for the benefit of the principal in all matters connected with the agency."

Comment B. Scope of duty.

"The agent's duty is not only to act solely

for the benefit of the principal in matters entrusted to him but also to take no unfair advantage of his position in the use of things acquired by him because of his position as agent or because of the opportunities which his position affords."

Comment F, under Section 390, states as follows:

"The burden of proof is on the agent to show that the principal was informed of all material facts and that the transaction was fair."

In the case of *Renshaw vs. Tracy Loan & Trust Company*, Utah 1935, 87 Ut. 364 49 P(2) 403, the Utah court in analyzing the case stated:

"it is true that upon the establishment of certain fiduciary relationships and transactions between the parties to that relationship equity will presume fraud, the abuse of confidence, and will place the burden of proving good faith and fairness upon the dominant party in the relationship. In such cases, the presumption of fraud may be based upon the relationship alone, and relieves the party from proving the fraud, but the fraud is, nevertheless, an essential element. By the presumption equity supplies that element. The relationship wherein such presumptions have been indulged are * * * principal and agent. In other cases the presumption of fraud has been given effect when there has been a relationship of confidence plus other circumstances tending to show that some advantage has been taken by the dominant party with the consequent abuse of confidence."

Plaintiff has cited on Page 10 of his brief 20A Appleman on Insurance Law and Practice, 11978, concerning misrepresentations and the burden of proof. The rule set forth therein is not applicable where an agent in fiduciary capacity deals with the principal on his own account. As set forth in the Restatement of Agency, Section 390, Comment F, Supra:

“The burden shifts to the agent to show that the transaction was fair in all respects and that he did not take unfair advantage of his principal.”

Utah has followed this principle of law in several cases: In addition to the Renshaw vs. Tracy Loan & Trust Company, Case, Supra, see Hawkins vs. Perry, Utah, 123 Ut. 16 253 P(2) 372, Peterson vs. Budge, 35 Utah 596, 102 P. 216, In Re Swans Estate, (4 Utah (2) 277) (293 P(2) 682).

The authorities which plaintiff has cited with respect to imputing the knowledge of the agent to the insurer are not applicable where the insured is the agent himself. If the rules quoted by plaintiff were applicable to this situation, then one could not rely upon or trust ones own agent. Mr. Page had been an agent for over 30 years. The general agent had a right to rely on him to disclose fully all material facts pertaining to the transaction at all times.

Page's duty in acting as an agent in selling this

policy on his own property was to get for the insurance company the terms most favorable for the company considering the risk involved. For himself, he was interested in getting the best rate he could for himself. There was a definite conflict of interests. Under the circumstances it was his duty to fully disclose every material fact which would affect the company's judgment with respect to whether or not they would write the risk at all and if so, the rate that would be charged. Mr. Page secured an agent's commission for selling those policies to himself.

In the case of Fireman's Fund Insurance Company vs. McGreavy, 118 Fed. (2) 115, an insurance agent issued a policy to himself on a warehouse purchased by him a few days before for \$500. He reported the insurance to the company with the statement that the building was worth from \$3,500 to \$4,000 but did not disclose his recent purchase nor the fact that the building had been erected as a creamery and had been put to various uses, none of which proved profitable. The company's instructions to its agents were to consider risks with reference to their moral hazard and not to issue a policy for an amount the insured would rather have than the risk covered, and if a building was badly located, too large or in a business not adapted to it, not to write it. In that case they held in an action on the policy after the loss that the materiality of the agent's concealment was so obvious as to be decided

as a matter of law and it was error to submit it to a jury. In our case the jury found that Page knowingly failed to make a full and honest disclosure of the material facts. His concealment makes the policy voidable.

Plaintiff contends that even though he may have been guilty of fraud or violated his fiduciary duty as an agent, the general agent, even though it wasn't advised by Page of all the facts, waived the fraud or violation of duty on behalf of Utah Home Fire Insurance Company and in addition was put on notice of all facts which Page as soliciting agent failed to reveal to the general agent. The soliciting agent and the general agent were both under a duty to reveal facts to Utah Home Fire Insurance Company and Utah Home Fire Insurance Company had a right to rely on both agents.

Section 9104 of Volume 16, Appleman Insurance Law and Practice, pertaining to local, soliciting and sub-agents states as follows:

“Ordinarily, notice to or knowledge of a soliciting agent of an insurance company received while acting within the scope of his authority and performance of his duties, is chargeable to the insurer. Acts and knowledge of a local agent concerning property insured against fire at the time the policy was executed is imputable to the insurer. And the rule of imputed knowledge is applied with particular force as to such information a soliciting agent receives while engaged in soliciting insurance or preparing the applica-

tion, prior to the execution of the policy. The insurer is not only bound by his knowledge at such times, but also by his acts and representations in connection therewith.

It is the duty of an agent authorized by an insurance company to solicit and transmit applications for insurance, to prepare such applications, so as accurately to state the result of the negotiations, and his failure so to do is in legal effect the fault of the company. The knowledge of an agent soliciting and collecting premiums of facts justifying the insurer in forfeiting a policy is binding upon it, though not communicated. So, when a soliciting agent has knowledge of facts, received by him prior to the execution of the policy, which would render the policy void ab initio or justify the insurer in declaring a forfeiture thereof, a company thereafter issuing the policy cannot avoid liability at some subsequent date upon such ground."

Mr. Page was a soliciting agent without any question, and he signed the policies which were issued to him as agent. The rule just quoted by counsel is similar to the rule pertaining to a general agent. On the basis of Mr. Dahl's argument, the knowledge of Page would, therefore, be imputed to the insurance company, but certainly this could not be so because this would protect the agent in perpetrating and accomplishing a fraud upon the insurance company. The rule is that the agent must disclose every material fact to the company in order to clear himself of any imputation of fraud. While there may not

have been any actual fraud upon the part of Heber J. Grant and Company, certainly there appears to be some collusion here if the facts as stated by the witnesses were true. This collusion would not relieve Mr. Page from the fraud upon his part of the violation of his fiduciary duty. In Volume 16, Appleman on Insurance, Section 9104 beginning on Page 646, it is stated:

“The rule of imputed knowledge is generally followed, in the absence of fraud or collusion between the agent and **those taking insurance.**” (Boldface ours.)

Under the circumstances of the Page case it is submitted that neither Mr. Page's knowledge nor the knowledge of the Heber J. Grant and Company would be imputed to Utah Home Fire Insurance Company in view of the violation of the fiduciary duty upon the part of Mr. Page and upon the part perhaps of the Heber J. Grant and Company.

In the case of Harland vs. Liverpool and L. & G. Insurance Company, 192 Mo. App. 198, 180 S.W. 998, an agent's failure to make a full disclosure of all the facts rendered the policy voidable at the option of the insurer. The agent bought a stock of certain goods at an administrator's sale for \$425 or \$450; he was one of the appraisers who had appraised the stock for the administrator, and this appraisement fixed the value thereof at \$555.35; after purchasing the stock and adding thereto other goods of a comparatively small amount in value, he

issued a policy to himself for \$900 on the stock, admittedly worth that much and more; he sent a copy of the policy to the insurer, and it with knowledge that he was the insured, assented to his having insured himself; and while he had shown the stock to the insurer's general agent, at whose suggestion he issued the policy, and had told the latter the stock invoiced at \$700 or \$800, but that he bought it at administration sale for less, he did not disclose that he had appraised the property, nor the amount of such appraisal, nor the price he paid. It was held that neither the partial disclosure of these facts made by the agent to the insurer's general agent, nor the fact that the property may have been in reality worth more than \$900, the amount for which it was insured, absolved him from his duty as an agent to make a full disclosure of what he did pay and all the facts concerning the stock.

Plaintiff claims on page 14 of his brief that the only testimony opposing Mr. Page's testimony as to the condition of the building as recited in R. 108-110 is the testimony of Mr. Inkley and that Mr. Inkley's memory was bad. Mr. Page's testimony as set forth on pages 108-110 of the record was changed greatly on cross examination (R. 135-183). Mr. Welchman's testimony was also greatly in conflict with Mr. Page's testimony as to the condition of the building (R. 244-253). Defendant's counsel would also point out to the court that a demand was made at the time of the taking of his deposition for the invoices and

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